#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FRANK A. SEGREE, III

**APPELLANT** 

VS

NO. 2009-CA-00757



SUSAN B. SEGREE

**APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Judges of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Frank A. Segree, III, Appellant
- 2. R. Louis Field, Esq.
- 3. Susan B. Segree, Appellee
- 4. Mark W. Prewitt, Esq.
- Chancellor Vicki R. Barnes, Chancery Court Judge, Vicksburg, Warren
   County, Mississippi.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Court erred in its allocation and division of marital assets and its award of permanent alimony and child support.
- 2. The Court erred in requiring Frank to pay child support, maintain medical insurance and pay medical bills for Rebecca.
- 3. The Court erred in requiring Frank to provide Rebecca and Jacqueline with credit cards.
  - 4. The Court erred in awarding Susan periodic alimony.
  - 5. The Court erred in awarding Susan attorney's fees.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties to this divorce litigation are Susan B. Segree, Plaintiff/Appellee, hereinafter referred to as "Susan" and Frank A. Segree, III, Defendant/Appellant, hereinafter referred as "Frank".

This action was commenced on July 19, 2007 when Susan filed a Complaint for Divorce in the Chancery Court of Warren County. (CP 5). Frank responded by Answer filed on August 31, 2007. (CP 12). Thereafter, on June 16, 2008 with Court approval, Susan filed an Amended Complaint for Divorce and/or Separate Maintenance and Support. (CP 26). Frank answered the Amended Complaint on June 26, 2008. (CP 34). This cause came to trial on July 1, 2008 before the Honorable Vicki Roach Barnes. Preliminarily, Susan in open court withdrew her claim for separate maintenance and support and the matter came on for hearing as a divorce action. (T 4). The issues presented to the Chancellor for adjudication included divorce, custody of two minor children, support of those children, including payment of medical and dental insurance and other medical expenses and cost of extra-curricular activities in which the children might participate, equitable distribution of all joint marital assets and debt, alimony and attorney's fees.

The court entered its Final Judgment on September 15, 2008 granting Susan a divorce from Frank on grounds of adultery; awarding Susan the permanent care and custody of the minor children Rebecca and Jacqueline and giving Frank reasonable rights of visitation; granting Susan the right to claim both children as dependants for federal and state income tax purposes; requiring Frank to pay Susan \$825.00 per month as child support for the minor child Rebecca; requiring Frank to provide each minor child, Rebecca and Jacqueline, with credit cards for their individual use; awarding Frank ownership of certain items of personal property with the requirement that

all debt for such items be paid by Frank; awarding Susan certain items of personal property with the requirement that all debt for such items be paid by Susan; awarding Susan use and ownership of certain cemetery lots; awarding Susan one hundred per-cent (100%) of her retirement account; awarding Susan one-half (½) of Frank's retirement account; awarding Susan exclusive use, possession and ownership of the marital domicile located at 80 Lawland Road, Vicksburg; and requiring Frank to convey his interest in the real property to Susan; requiring Frank to immediately pay the 80 Lawland Road mortgage debt in full out of his Thrift Savings account and to pay the monthly accruing mortgage on the marital home until such time as the mortgage is paid in full; awarding Susan one-half (½) of the funds remaining in Frank's Thrift Savings account after payment of the mortgage debt and charging all penalties and interest for early withdrawal of Frank's Thrift Savings account to Frank; requiring Frank to pay Susan \$500.00 per month as permanent periodic alimony beginning the first day of the month immediately following the cessation of child support payments to Rebecca; and finally requiring Frank to pay to Susan \$4,500.00 in attorney's fees. (CP 43, RE 2).

Following the entry of the Final Decree, Susan on September 17, 2008 filed a Motion For Reconsideration to Amend, Correct and/or Clarify Final Judgment and on September 18, 2008 filed an Amended Motion For Reconsideration to Amend, Correct and Clarify Final Judgment. (CP 37, 39). Frank on September 24, 2008 filed a Motion For Reconsideration suggesting that the court should reconsider its Final Judgment in toto. (CP 41, RE 3). The Court on its own Motion entered an Amended Final Judgment correcting an error due to oversight on the part of the Court and in the Amended Final Judgment required Frank to provide medical insurance and pay medical costs for Rebecca, awarded Frank the ownership of a portable generator which had

been erroneously awarded to Susan, and awarded Susan ownership of certain tractor tires. (CP 48, RE 4). The Court on May 1, 2009 entered an Order overruling all Motions For Reconsideration. (CP 50, RE 5). It is from the Court's Final Judgment, Amended Final Judgment and Order overruling Frank's Motion For Reconsideration that this appeal is taken.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Susan and Frank were married on June 4, 1983 in Franklin County, Florida. Three children were born of the marriage, Robert Waldon Segree, age 23, and twins Rebecca May Segree and Jacqueline Marie Segree both age 19. Frank and Susan separated for the final time on June 12, 2007. (T 20-21). Susan is 45 years old, in good health and is a high school graduate. (T 35). Frank is 41 years old and earned his G.E.D. (T 64).

Frank and Susan were married for some 24 years. However, the last ten (10) years were anything but tranquil and fulfilling. Each had in the past commenced and filed a formal divorce action against the other. Neither action ended in divorce. (T 86). The last six or seven years of the marriage were characterized by ill will, indifference, and lack of communication and affection of one toward the other. (T 141). Frank testified that he stuck with the marriage for the sake of his children. (T 140).

Waldon Segree at the time of the divorce was 24 years of age. He lived with his parents at 80 Lawland Road prior to their separation and continued to reside there with Susan following the separation. (T 21, 86). Waldon is employed full time and earns about \$3,800.00 per month. (T 143). He is the beneficiary of free room and board at 80 Lawland Road. He contributes nothing for utilities, food or lodging. Susan describes her relationship with Waldon and the two girls similarly. That is, she doesn't ask any of them to contribute or pay any part of their living

expenses. She asks only that they go to school or work. (T 88).

Two minor children, Rebecca and Jacqueline, each nineteen years of age, live with their mother at the Lawland Road home. Both were poor students. Neither graduated from high school. Neither has aspirations for further matriculation. (T 21-22, 88). Jacqueline is employed full time and earns about \$1,000.00 per month. (T 90). Rebecca works full time and earns about \$1,200.00 per month. (T 145). Neither makes any financial contribution toward their living expenses and both are for all practical purposes independent and self-reliant. The only rule imposed by Susan is either "go to school or work". Neither goes to school nor intends to and both work. Each has her own automobile, her own bank account, and each pays her own expenses with no assistance from Susan. (T 91-93). Frank on the other hand provides each girl with a credit card and pays that bill each month. Credit card expense is about \$250.00 monthly. Frank also provides health insurance coverage for the two girls and pays all other medical bills. (T 152).

Susan is a full-time employee of CitiFinancial and has been for six (6) years. She is an assistant manager with an annual salary of \$32,034.38. (RE 6, T 25, 26). Her 8.05 indicates monthly disposable income of \$2,202.99. Her monthly living expenses of \$3,218.08 include a \$762.00 mortgage payment which she does not pay, \$600.00 for food and household expenses which include cost of food for Waldon, Rebecca and Jacqueline, and \$145.78 for telephone expenses also for Rebecca and Jacqueline. (RE 7). She has almost \$21,000.00 in her CitiGroup 401k plan. (RE 8, T 101-103).

Frank has worked as a mariner all of his adult life. He was a first mate, then a pilot, and finally a master pilot. At the time of this hearing he was captain of the motor vessel Hurley, home port Memphis, Tennessee. When working Frank lives on the vessel. (T 126). Frank's gross

monthly salary is \$6,870.00. His monthly disposable income is \$5,175.00. (T 133, 134). Monthly living expenses approach \$5,000.00. (RE 9). Frank's Thrift Savings Plan (TSP) administered by his employer had a value of \$138,000.00 as of the day of the divorce. (RE 10). There was no credible evidence concerning Frank's retirement plan. Susan made no contribution to either Frank's TSP or retirement. Frank pays the mortgage debt, provides health insurance and medical coverage and care for Rebecca and Jacqueline and to the extent that they need additional financial assistance he generally provides that too. (T 106).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In cases like this, that is litigation of divorce and related issues of custody, support, alimony and property division, the Court's scope of review is limited under the now familiar rule that Appellate Courts will not disturb a Chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or decided by application of an erroneous legal standard. *Mabus v. Mabus*, 890 So.2d 806 (Miss. 2003).

Frank and Susan's story is not exactly like but not completely unlike other stories of marriage, children, failed marriage and resort to litigation to terminate the union, determine the best interest of the children and fairly distribute accumulated assets. Frank and Susan were married for twenty years or so. They have three children, two of whom are under twenty-one. Susan is 45. Frank is 41. Susan is working and has worked for the past six (6) years. Frank is a boat pilot on the Mississippi River and is the principal bread winner. His income is the means by which substantially all assets were acquired and paid for. It is the method and manner of the Chancellor's disposition of assets and other related issues that prolongs this litigation.

The Chancellor first granted Susan a divorce and then by the numbers proceeded to

"redistribute the wealth". She essentially divested Frank of all ownership of marital assets and piled on by imposing unnecessary child support and unjustified alimony. The asset vesting of Susan and the asset divesting of Frank was all said and done by the Chancellor without even a reference to the *Ferguson* guidelines. Likewise, alimony was thereafter tacked on with no mention of *Armstrong* or its required factor by factor analysis of relevant facts relating to permanent or lump sum alimony. Absent the essential, careful preliminary consideration of *Ferguson* and *Armstrong* guidelines, the Chancellor has by definition abused her discretion. This case should be reversed and remanded.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellate Court's scope of review in domestic relations matters is limited. *Montgomery v. Montgomery*, 759 So.2d 1238 (Miss. 2000). In a domestic relations case, the Court will not disturb a Chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or unless the Chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So.2d 1281 (Miss. 1994). The Court will accept the Chancellor's findings of fact as long as the evidence in the record reasonably supports those findings. *Norton v. Norton*, 742 So.2d 126 (Miss. 1999).

#### **ARGUMENT**

# ISSUE 1. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS ALLOCATION AND DIVISION OF MARITAL ASSETS AND ITS AWARD OF PERMANENT ALIMONY AND CHILD SUPPORT.

Chancellors are required to evaluate the division of marital assets between divorcees according to certain guidelines and to support their decision with on the record findings of fact and conclusions of law. Those guidelines were first promulgated in *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994). A trial court's failure to make a point by point *Ferguson* analysis is, of

itself, an abuse of discretion that requires reversal and remand. *Baker v. Baker*, 807 So.2d 474 (Miss.App. 2001). The required on the record *Ferguson* analysis is absent in the case at bar.

If for purposes of this appeal and argument, one grapples with the merits of the Chancellor's Final Judgment, inequity pokes Frank in the eye. The test of justice and equity in any award of marital assets and alimony must include not only the benefit to the wife, but also the resulting burden to the husband. Once it is determined that the amount of the award is of sufficient benefit to the wife, there remains the duty of testing the extent of the corresponding burden upon the husband. *Nichols v. Nichols*, 254 So.2d 726 (Miss. 1971). All property division, periodic alimony, and obligations for child support should be considered together. Child support, alimony and equitable distribution of assets are distinct legal concepts but together they command the entire field of financial settlement of divorce. Therefore, when one expands, the other must recede. In the final analysis, all awards should be considered together to determine that they are equitable and fair.<sup>1</sup>

The Trial Court's order in this case is patently unfair, exhibiting a disregard for the meaning of equity. Except for a Kubota tractor and its accessories which have the combined value of \$6,000.00, the division of all other household and related items was agreed to by Frank and Susan. (T 14-18). There remained for allocation by the Court the following properties, real and personal.

(1) Jointly owned marital home

value \$100,000.00 mortgage debt \$84,200.00 equity \$15,800.00

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See LaRue v. LaRue, 172 W.Va. 158, 304 S.E.2d 334 cited by the Ferguson Court.

- (2) Susan's 401k \$ 20,800.00
- (3) Frank's 401k \$138,000.00
- (4) Frank's "retirement" account Value Unknown

The Court ordered Frank to do the following:

- (1) Pay Susan \$825.00 per month as child support for Rebecca.
- (2) Provide Rebecca and Jacqueline with credit cards in the amounts and manner he previously provided.
- (3) Awarded Susan the exclusive use, possession and ownership of the Kubota tractor bush hog and accessories valued at \$6,000.00.
- (4) Awarded Susan her retirement account (\$20,800 CitiGroup 401k).
- (5) Awarded Susan one-half (½) of Frank's "retirement account".
- (6) Awarded Susan the use, possession and ownership of the marital home at 80 Lawland Road, Vicksburg, Mississippi, and ordered Frank to convey his interest in said home to Susan.
- (7) Ordered Frank to pay the marital home mortgage of \$84,200.00 from his Thrift Savings Plan.
- (8) Ordered Frank to pay the monthly mortgage payment of \$760.00 on the marital home until the mortgage is paid in full.
- (9) Awarded Susan one-half (½) of the balance of Frank's Thrift Savings Plan after payment of the marital home mortgage and required that Frank be responsible for all penalties and interest associated with early withdrawal of the Thrift Savings Plan.
- (10) Ordered Frank to pay Susan \$500.00 per month as permanent periodic alimony beginning the first day of the month immediately following the month the child Rebecca is no longer receiving child support.
- (11) Ordered Frank to pay Susan's attorney's fees in the amount of \$4,500.00.

The inequity of the asset apportionment, alimony and support obligation is plain. Susan

after entry of the Final Judgment is the owner of a debt free marital residence having a value of \$100,000.00. Frank has been divested of his interest in the property. Susan retains ownership of her "retirement account", the CitiGroup 401k in the amount of \$21,000.00. She is awarded an additional \$27,000.00 from Frank's Thrift Savings Plan. She will receive child support for Rebecca in the amount of \$825.00 for about 2 years at the end of which time she will begin to receive permanent alimony in the amount of \$500.00 per month. At Frank's retirement she will receive fifty per-cent (50%) of his benefits and continue to be paid \$500.00 per month alimony. Further, at about the same time she receives a portion of Frank's retirement, she will also be a Social Security recipient. Frank is required to maintain medical insurance and pay all medical bills for both Rebecca and Jacqueline and provide them with credit cards. Consider further, that Susan as the custodial parent spends nothing on her children and likely benefits from their earnings. Finally, Waldon the adult child of Frank and Susan earns almost \$4,000.00 per month, continues to live with Susan at the marital domicile and pays nothing toward his living expenses. Surely, Frank is entitled to "equitable credit" for this.

Frank, however, post Final Judgment finds himself divested of his interest in the marital residence and spends most of his nights on the MV Hurley. The Chancellor practically eliminated Frank's Thrift Savings Account by reducing it from \$138,000.00 to \$54,000.00 (\$138,000.00 - \$84,200.00 mortgage payment) to \$27,000.00 (one half (½) of \$54,000.00 to Susan) to near zero because he also bears the cost of tax and penalty for early withdrawal. Frank will be paying child support, medical bills and other every day expenses for a child nineteen years of age no longer attending school and employed full time. Frank will pay periodic alimony to Susan without cessation even after she begins to receive fifty per-cent (50%) of his retirement. The award to

Susan by the Chancellor exhibits a total disregard of the standards which a Chancellor is obligated to follow. It shows an abuse of discretion resulting in an inequitable result. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So.2d 1281 (Miss. 1994).

# ISSUE 2. THE COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING FRANK TO PAY CHILD SUPPORT, MAINTAIN MEDICAL INSURANCE AND PAY MEDICAL BILLS FOR REBECCA.

The uncontradicted greater weight of the evidence shows that Jacqueline, nineteen years of age, dropped out of high school, has no aptitude or intention of further education and is working full time. (T 22, 88-91). Though the Chancellor makes no on the record finding of the emancipation of Jacqueline, it appears that she found this to be so. The Final Judgment does not require Frank to pay support for Jacqueline. (RE 2).

On the other hand, the Chancellor does require Frank to pay support, medical insurance and medical expenses for Rebecca. The uncontradicted greater weight of the evidence is that Rebecca is as independent as Jacqueline. She, like Jacqueline, is a nineteen year old high school dropout, with no aptitude or intention of further education. She works full time. She has her own car, she has own bank account, she pays her own way, receives little or no support from her mother, is answerable only to herself. (T 144-146).

Section 93-5-23 of the 1972 Mississippi Code sets out the authority of the Chancery Court in a divorce proceeding to make and enter orders touching the care and support of children of the marriage. The last sentence of that Section is as follows:

"The duty of support of a child terminates upon the emancipation of the child. The court may determine that emancipation has occurred pursuant to Section 93-11-65".

The relevant portion of § 93-11-65 states that:

- (8)(a) The duty of support of a child terminates upon the emancipation of the child. Unless otherwise provided for in the underlying child support judgment, emancipation shall occur when the child:
  - (i) Attains the age of twenty-one (21) years, or
  - (ii) Marries, or
  - (iii) Joins the military and serves on a full-time basis, or
- (iv) Is convicted of a felony and is sentenced to incarceration of two (2) or more years for committing such felony; or
- (b) Unless otherwise provided for in the underlying child support judgment, the court may determine that emancipation has occurred and no other support obligation exists when the child:
- (i) <u>Discontinues full-time enrollment in school having attained the age of eighteen</u> (18) years, unless the child is disabled, or
- (ii) Voluntarily moves from the home of the custodial parent or guardian, establishes independent living arrangements, obtains full-time employment and discontinues educational endeavors prior to attaining the age of twenty-one (21) years, or
- (iii) Cohabits with another person without the approval of the parent obligated to pay support; and

Until amended on July 1, 2008 § 93-5-23 in its relevant part stated that:

The court may determine that emancipation has occurred and no other support obligation exists when the child:

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