IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00757

FRANK A. SEGREE, III

APPELLANT

v.

SUSAN B. SEGREE

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Frank A. Segree, III, Appellant
- 2. Susan B. Segree, Appellee
- 3. Honorable Vicki R. Barnes, Warren County Chancellor
- 4. Mark W. Prewitt, Esquire
- 5. R. Louis Field, Esquire

Mark W. Prewitt

Attorney for Appellee, Susan B. Segree

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In cases where the parties agree to divide a large part of joint marital assets prior to trial leaving in contest only a few for the Chancellor's consideration, the application of the factors announced in *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994) are of limited value leaving the Chancellor to rely on the principals of equity and fairness in reaching a decision. Here, the parties agreed as to ownership of a large part of their joint assets and submitted to the Chancellor a division of the marital home, tractor with accessories and retirement accounts accumulated by the parties during the course of the marriage. (T. 14-19)

Faced with somewhat a similar situation to the case *sub judice*, the Court of Appeals in *Parsons v. Parsons*, 741 So.2d 302 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) stated that the "chancery court's authority to divide marital assets is born from principles of fairness which are rooted in the court's inherent powers of equity." "Chancellor's are empowered to address realty assets and to divide title, including that of the marital home." Citing the Supreme Court the opinion continued to read: "[I]t is well-established by this court that the chancery court has the authority to order an equitable division of property that was accumulated through the joint efforts and contributions of the parties. However, there is no automatic right to an equal division of jointly-accumulated property, but rather, the division is left to the discretion of the court... This court, therefore, holds that the chancery court is within its authority and power to equitably divide marital assets at divorce."

As stated in *Ferguson*, supra, the Court is to consider several factors among which is "[T]he degree to which each spouse has expended, withdraw or otherwise disposed of marital assets and *any prior distribution of such assets by agreement*, decree or otherwise." *Parsons*, Id. at 307 (¶24). Not unlike the present case, the chancellor in *Parsons*, supra, "found that the parties had distributed principal marital assets prior to instituting the divorce proceedings."

The Chancellor's award of the marital home to Susan and divesting title from Frank is not only consistent with our Court's prior rulings, but consistent with the proof. In awarding Susan the marital home, the record reflects that the parties had lived there for approximately sixteen years as husband and wife, raised three children, two of which are minors, and that in June of 2007 Frank abandoned the home and took up residence with

another woman. (R.E. 2; T. 80, 115-116) Dobbs v. Dobbs, 912 So.2d 491, 492 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Susan had an emotional and needed attachment to the marital home where Frank did not. (T. 80) Consentino v. Consentino, 912 So.2d 1130, 1132 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The parties having agreed that all assets were joint marital assets, the Court awarded Susan one-half of Frank's retirement account through the Federal Employees' Retirement System and one-half of Frank's Thrift Savings Plan accumulated through his employment with the federal government. (R.E. 2) *Phillips v. Phillips*, 904 So.2d 999 (Miss. 2004).

In awarding Susan the tractor and accessories, the record reflects that such an award was necessary based on maintaining the grounds at the marital home. (R.E. 2; T. 98) Frank made no showing of need of the tractor nor did he give any explanation for its use. (T. 169)

The award of \$500.00 per month in permanent alimony to Susan was supported by the record reflecting a tremendous disparity between Frank and Susan's income. In any event, Frank's payment of alimony is not scheduled to become payable until the award of child support terminates. An award of permanent alimony is within the sound discretion of the Chancellor and the amount awarded in this case is minuscule when compared to Frank's earnings. (R.E. 2) *Ward v. Ward*, 825 So.2d 713, 718 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

The testimony regarding the minor child, Rebecca, being employed full time or part time was in sharp conflict and the Chancellor, in ordering Frank to pay child support with diametrically opposing testimony before her, chose to err on the side of the best

interest of the minor child and directed the payment of child support. (T. 22, 144-147)

Miss. Code Ann., §49-19-101 (Rev. 2004).

Although Frank complains on appeal that he should not have been ordered to maintain medical insurance on Rebecca, pay her medical bills not covered by insurance and provide credit cards for both minor children, the record readily reveals that Frank not only agreed to this situation but submitted to the Chancellor that he would continue to do so. (R.E. 4; T. 145, 152, 158)

Based upon the testimony provided by Susan that she was unable to pay her attorney's fees and had in fact borrowed that which she had paid from her father, (T. 82-83) and considering again the disparity in income, coupled with Frank's marital misconduct, thus prompting legal action on her behalf, the Chancellor elected to exercise the discretion allowed by law in awarding attorney's fees. (Appellee's R.E. 7-27)

Monroe v. Monroe, 745 So.2d 249 (¶18) (Miss. 1999).

Susan requests that the Chancellor's Final Judgment be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's scope of review in domestic relations matters is limited.

Montgomery v. Montgomery, 759 So.2d 1239 (¶ 5) (Miss. 2000). The findings of a chancellor will not be disturbed by this Court unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Id. The Court will accept the Chancellor's findings of fact as long as the evidence in the record reasonably supports those findings. Norton v. Norton, 742 So.2d 126 (Miss. 1999).

ARGUMENT

I. Division of Marital Assets

Frank argues that the Chancellor failed to apply the analysis announced in Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994) and for this reason the Chancellor's decision should be reversed. Susan asserts that Frank's argument is without merit because the parties, at the outset of the hearing, stipulated as to all marital assets and their value. Furthermore, Frank and Susan, through their respective counsel, announced to the Chancellor that an agreement had been reached to settle ownership and possession of the lions share of marital assets. This left the marital home, Kabota tractor and accessories, Frank's Thrift Savings Plan and Susan's 401K unresolved for disposition by the Chancellor. With just a few remaining assets for the Chancellor's consideration, a Ferguson, supra, analysis was negated by the parties substantial agreement.

The impetus of *Ferguson*, supra, is for the Chancellor to seek an equitable division of all marital assets, not a piecemeal division. An agreement to divide marital assets by parties in a divorce removes those items from the Chancellor's consideration unless the Chancellor should have some reason to disagree therewith, and, in the case at bar, the Chancellor merely went along and accepted the parties agreement to divide assets.

In the event this Court should agree that the requirements of *Ferguson* have no application in cases where Chancellors are to decide division of limited marital assets submitted by agreement by the parties for resolution, thus removing the burden from the Chancellor from considering the marital estate as a whole, then the bare principles of equity apply in conformity with the persuading evidence and proof.

The Court of Appeals in *Parsons v. Parsons*, 741 So.2d 302 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) stated that the "chancery court's authority to divide marital assets is born from principles of fairness which are rooted in the court's inherent powers of equity." "Chancellor's are empowered to address realty assets and to divide title, including that of the marital home." Citing the Supreme Court the opinion continued to read: "[I]t is well-established by this court that the chancery court has the authority to order an equitable division of property that was accumulated through the joint efforts and contributions of the parties. However, there is no automatic right to an equal division of jointly-accumulated property, but rather, the division is left to the discretion of the court... This court, therefore, holds that the chancery court is within its authority and power to equitably divide marital assets at divorce."

As stated in *Ferguson*, supra, the Court is to consider several factors among which is "[T]he degree to which each spouse has expended, withdraw or otherwise disposed of marital assets and *any prior distribution of such assets by agreement*, decree or otherwise." *Parsons*, Id. at 307 (¶24). Not unlike the present case, the chancellor in *Parsons*, supra, "found that the parties had distributed principal marital assets prior to instituting the divorce proceedings."

In this regard, the lower court in accepting the parties prior agreement to divide the majority of joint marital assets, leaving merely a few marital assets for consideration, cannot be held in error for abuse of discretion in reaching a just and equitable decision. Here, as support by *Dobbs*, infra, Frank left the marital domicile leaving his wife of twenty-five years and two minor children choosing to live with another woman. Frank also worked in Memphis, Tennessee, and spent most of his time there. (T. 115) Aside

from the huge disparity in income earnings between Frank and Susan which will be more fully discussed hereafter, these are just a few of the facts that the Chancellor rested the decision to dispose of the case in the manner done and further to make an effort, under the atrocious circumstances, to allow Susan and the children to continue to lead somewhat of a normal life in Frank's permanent absence.

Turning now to the limited assets under consideration by the Chancellor, Susan will start with the marital home.

a. Marital Home

Based on a Complaint filed by Susan against Frank for divorce on the ground of adultery, seeking child custody, child support, alimony and division of marital assets, the Chancellor at trial below heard sworn testimony during the trial held on July 1, 2008, and from this hearing entered a Final Judgment on September 15, 2008. (R.E. 2)

Frank assigns five errors for review by this Court regarding division of marital assets, permanent alimony, child support, medical insurance and payment of medical bills, credit cards for the minor children and an award of attorney fees. Frank does not complain of the Chancellor's entry of a divorce against him on account of his adulterous conduct.

It is contended that the Chancellor erred by failing to follow the analysis announced in *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994) in making a division of marital assets. In looking to the *Ferguson* analysis, the record must be viewed as a whole for proof to support the Chancellor's decision. *Studdard v. Studdard*, 894 So.2d 615 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

At the outset of the trial the Chancellor made a careful review of the parties assets, their value and equity, if any, therein. (T. 14-19) Further considered by the Chancellor was the agreement of the parties as to possession and ownership, without contest, of certain assets. No determination was required to be made of the Chancellor regarding non-marital assets as all assets were considered marital in nature. Since the parties submitted their agreement to the Chancellor regarding possession and ownership of certain marital assets, no *Ferguson* analysis was required of the Court in this respect, leaving only distribution of the marital assets in contest by the lower court.

The record reveals that the marital home, Kabota tractor with accessories and the parties respective 401K accounts and Frank's retirement account with the federal government were at issue for distribution by the Court. According to the Final Judgment entered in this action, the Chancellor gave deference to the parties agreement of all other items of marital personal property. (R.E. 2)

The marital home had an agreed stipulated value of \$100,000.00 with a mortgage of \$84,284.00 and an equity of \$15,716.00. (T. 14) The Kabota tractor had an agreed stipulated value of \$6,000.00 with no debt. (T. 16) Frank's Thrift Savings Plan with the federal government was valued at \$138,171.00 and Susan's 401K was valued at \$20,868.00. (T. 19) The marital home had a lien against it in the form of a deed of trust dated March 9, 2007, in the amount of \$90,000.00 and a note of \$762.00 per month for fifteen years. The final payment on the home would be March 20, 2022. (Appellee's R.E. 1-6)

As did the Chancellor below in awarding Susan ownership of the marital home, this Court must consider the relevant and motivating circumstances revealed by the record. After twenty-five years of marriage and some periods of separation, Frank finally and forever left the marital home, his wife and two remaining minor children on June 12, 2007. However, prior to leaving, Frank convinced Susan to allow him to refinance the existing debt against the home in the amount of \$49,271.91 and borrow \$90,000.00 on March 9, 2007. (T. 38-39) After receiving the \$90,000.00 loan proceeds and paying the existing first mortgage in full, Frank proceeded to pay most of his own personal debts in full and had a remaining balance of \$12,500.00 which, at the time of trial, could not be accounted for. (T. 55-57) Again, the marital home was refinanced on March 9, 2007, and Frank, after paying his debts, abandoned the household on June 12, 2007. (T. 118)

Frank made the personal choice to destroy the stability and harmony of the marriage by electing to make a new life for himself with another woman, yet he contested Susan's right to remain in the marital home with the two remaining minor children, and, although Frank haughtily admitted to his adulterous conduct, he denied any occurrence of infidelity prior to the separation from Susan. (T. 115-116) However, the circumstances indicate otherwise. After securing the loan and paying down his debt, Frank left home two and one-half months later having sexual relations with his paramour the same month of his departure. (T. 120) As a matter of fact he gave his paramour's address as his residence during trial. (T. 115)

In considering an award of the marital domicile, as well as an award of any other marital asset, the Chancellor is to rely on the parties emotional attachment to such asset as provided by the proof. In exploring the record for Frank's reasoning for an award of the marital home, he gave no viable and articulated basis establishing any emotional

¹Susan did not sign the promissory note and was never liable for either the first mortgage or refinance. Frank is the solely obligated for the loans on the marital home. Susan only signed the deed of trust.

attachment. When asked if Frank had an objection to Susan keeping the marital home, he responded: "Mr. Prewitt, my honest opinion is, I come here for a divorce and that is why I'm sitting here. That's what the Judge is for. That's the reason we couldn't settle it. I have no problem with Susan having a home and I have no problem with myself having a home. But we couldn't come to terms. So, that's why we're sitting here today." Frank went on to say: "I have no objection of what the Court has down. I'll abide by it." (T. 134-135) Frank resides in Memphis where he is employed four days a week and lives with his paramour on the weekends in Vicksburg. (T. 115) Other than the above and foregoing, Frank expressed no real reason for the Court to award him the marital home either by emotional attachment or otherwise.

On the other hand, Susan testified that this had been her home for sixteen years, each of the two minor children had their own bedrooms, she stayed in the home raising the children as well as taking care of the house while Frank was away working. (T. 37) Coupled with Susan's emotional attachment and obvious lack of means to reside comfortably elsewhere with the two minor children, the Chancellor apparently considered that an award of the marital home to Susan was not only fair and equitable, but justified under the circumstances. In *Love v. Love*, 687 So.2d 1229, 1232, (Miss. 1997) the Supreme Court stated:

We have repeatedly held that in making an equitable division of the marital property, the chancellor is not required to divide the property equally. *Trovato v. Trovato*, 649 So.2d 815, 817-18 (Miss. 1995); *Davis v. Davis*, 638 So.2d 1288, 1292 (Miss. 1994); *Dudley v. Light*, 586 So.2d 155, 161 (Miss. 1991); *Brown v. Brown*, 574 So.2d 688, 691 (Miss. 1990).

In Davis v. Davis, 638 So.2d 1288, 1292 (Miss. 1994), the Supreme Court stated:

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